

Progress and opportunities of pseudo-natural-product design in molecular discovery

Xiu-Fen Cheng,^a Michael Grigalunas,^a Herbert Waldmann^{a,b,*}

^aDepartment of Chemical Biology, Max Planck Institute of Molecular Physiology, Dortmund, Germany. ^bTechnical University Dortmund, Faculty of Chemistry and Chemical Biology, Dortmund, Germany Email: <u>herbert.waldmann@mpi-dortmund.mpg.de</u>

Dedicated to Prof. Léon Ghosez on the occasion of his 90th birthday

Received 12-15-2023

Accepted 01-31-2024

Published on line 02-08-2024

Abstract

Natural products have been a rich source of bioactive molecules. However, the natural evolution of natural products is a long process, which largely limits their further exploration of biologically-relevant chemical space. The pseudo-natural-products approach provides an efficient strategy to rapidly explore biologically-relevant chemical space, leading to the discovery of novel bioactive compounds. In general, pseudo-natural products are generated through the *de novo* recombination of natural-product fragments with different arrangements and connectivity patterns to afford new natural-product-like compounds that are unprecedented in nature. Herein, we describe the pseudo-natural-product concept and its design principles, highlight recent examples of pseudo-natural-product design.



Keywords: Pseudo-natural products, design principle, natural-product fragments, diverse scaffolds

Table of Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Design Principle and Biological Evaluation of PNP Collections
- 3. Recent Examples of PNP Collections
 - 3.1. Monoterpene indole alkaloid PNPs
 - 3.2. Chromaline PNPs
 - 3.3 Pyrrolo[3,2-c]quinoline PNPs
 - 3.4. Macroline- and sarpagine-inspired PNPs
 - 3.5. Sesquiterpenoid alkaloid PNPs via complexity to diversity strategy
 - 3.6. Camptothecin-like PNPs
 - 3.7. Rutaecarpine-like PNPs
 - 3.8. Indole-[3.3.1]homotropane PNPs
 - Conclusion
 - References

1. Introduction

Natural products (NPs) are the result of nature's exploration of biologically-relevant chemical space through evolution, and their structures can, therefore, be considered biologically validated. NPs represent a rich source of bioactive compounds which have been successfully developed into biochemical tools and pharmaceuticals.¹ Nevertheless, natural evolution is a very slow process which has led to only a fraction of possible biologically-relevant NP-like space being explored by nature.² To overcome this evolutionary constraint, several NP-inspired, molecular-discovery-design principles have been developed, such as Complexity-to-Diversity, Biology-Oriented Synthesis, and Pseudo-Natural Products (PNPs).³ The PNP concept combines the biological relevance of NPs with the rapid exploration of chemical space of fragment-based discovery (Figure 1).⁴ By employing cheminformatics, NPs can be computationally deconstructed into NP fragments that retain the molecular properties of NPs.⁵ Synthetic *de novo* recombination of these NP fragments into new arrangements can afford novel scaffolds that retain the biological relevance of NPs, but are not accessible by nature through existing biosynthetic pathways. PNP collections may explore new areas of biologically-relevant chemical space that may not be represented in either synthetic drug-like compounds or existing NP structures. Therefore, in combination with suitable screening technologies, the synthesis and biological evaluation of new PNP collections may lead to the discovery of compounds with unexpected or unprecedented bioactivities.



Figure 1. Overview of pseudo-natural-product design.

Since the PNP concept was first disclosed, several successful examples⁶⁻⁸ and cheminformatic studies⁹ have been reported to provide validation of the concept as a means to efficiently explore biologically-relevant chemical space. In this review, general PNP-design principles will be outlined, and recently reported PNP collections will be discussed with a focus on their design and synthesis. Additionally, current research trends and future opportunities for the PNP-design principle will be summarized.

2. Design Principle and Biological Evaluation of PNP Collections

In PNP design, NPs are first computationally deconstructed into NP fragments.⁵ Either these NP fragments or NPs that are fragment-sized themselves, i.e., Alog P < 3.5, molecular weight 120–350 Da, \leq 3 hydrogen-bond donors, \leq 6 hydrogen-bond acceptors, and \leq 6 rotatable bonds,⁵ are then synthetically recombined to afford novel structures that do not occur in nature. Diversity in PNP collections can be obtained by 1) combining different NP fragments,¹⁰ 2) combining similar fragments in different arrangements with different connectivity patterns, such as edge-fusion, bridged-fusion, and spiro-fusion, ¹¹ and 3) exploring three-dimensional diversity by accessing different stereoisomers (Figure 2).¹²



Figure 2. General design principle for diverse PNPs collections.

Since PNPs are new, their structures are not yet linked to bioactivities. Therefore, biologically broad, and unbiased screening technologies, such as phenotypic assays and morphological profiling, are best suited to uncover the bioactivities of PNP collections. In particular, the "Cell Painting Assay" (CPA)¹³ has been a valuable tool for identifying and characterizing bioactive PNPs.¹⁴ The CPA quantifies morphological changes of cells and cellular compartments upon compound treatment. Hundreds of features are extracted via fluorescence microscopy and are then combined to afford a profile that represents the morphological changes induced by the compound. These profiles can then be compared to reference compounds with annotated bioactivities to generate target or mode-of-action hypotheses.

3. Recent Examples of PNP Collections

3.1. Monoterpene indole alkaloid PNPs

Monoterpene indole alkaloid (MIA) NPs (Figure 3) are derived from strictosidine. They have diverse bioactivities and have found use as chemical probes and therapeutics. ¹⁵⁻¹⁷ However, the structures of existing MIA NPs are limited since they are all biosynthetically derived from a strictosidine intermediate. To overcome this limitation, Xie et al. employed synthetic chemistry to combine MIA NP fragments in arrangements that are not found in nature. ¹⁸ Intermolecular Pictet-Spengler reactions of ketone **1** and either tryptophol or tryptamine derivatives in acidic conditions combined a 6*H*-lilolidine fragment with either a 4*H*-pyranoindole or a 4*H*- β -carboline NP fragment with a spirocyclic fusion pattern to afford compounds **2**. The indole nitrogen and methyl ester of **2** were aligned properly for intramolecular lactamization which could be induced in the presence of triazabicyclodecene (TBD) to yield compounds **3** with a bridged fusion pattern. The MIA PNP collection was compared to MIA NPs via cheminformatic analysis and was found to occupy similar chemical space including high spatial complexity-density.¹⁹ Biological evaluation of the MIA PNP collection via the CPA and subsequent validation assays led to the identification of novel inhibitors of DNA-synthesis and tubulin polymerization.



Figure 3. Design and synthesis of a MIA PNP collection.

3.2. Chromaline PNPs

The previously reported PNP classes of chromopynones, i.e., the combination of chromane and 4*H*-pyrimidinone, ⁴ and pyrrolidine-4H-quinolines, i.e., the combination of pyrrolidine and 4*H*-quinoline, ¹¹ share a bridged connectivity pattern and were found to produce significantly different CPA profiles. This finding indicated that the rearrangement of these fragments with a conserved bridged fusion pattern may produce a new, morphologically-different compound class. With this in mind, Zinken et al. combined chromane and 4*H*-quinoline fragments via a bridged connectivity pattern. The core scaffold of these chromaline PNPs (Figure 4a) could be rapidly accessed through a four-step synthesis route with an acid-catalysed intramolecular cyclisation as the key step.²⁰ The synthesis sequence began with a Mannich-type reaction employing 2-hydroxyacetophenone and 2-nitrobenzaldehydes in the presence of aniline and I₂ to afford nitro-functionalized flavanones **4** (Figure 4b). The ketone and nitro groups of the flavanones **4** were reduced with NaBH₄, and subsequent Béchamp nitro reduction readily generated *cis*-isomers **5**.²¹ An acid-mediated cyclisation was developed and applied to construct the core PNP scaffold **6** (Figure 4c), regardless of diastereomeric configuration. The compound collection was further expanded by functionalizing alcohols and amines via

Mitsunobu and amide-coupling reactions, respectively, to afford a 39-member collection of chromaline PNPs. The chromalines were compared to chromopynones and pyrroquinoline classes via the CPA and were found to have morphological profiles significantly different from the guiding PNP classes. These results demonstrate that the CPA may be used as a tool to rationally design compound collections to explore new areas of biological space.



Figure 4. Design and synthesis route for chromaline PNPs.

3.3. Pyrrolo[3,2-c]quinoline PNPs

Pyrrolidine and tetrahydroquinoline are common fragments in biologically-active NPs. However, their combination with different arrangements and connectivities are rarely found in nature, and, therefore, a novel arrangement of these NP fragments may lead to access of new biologically-relevant chemical space. Liu et al. designed a class of pyrrolo[3,2-c]quinolines (Figure 5).²² Rapid access to these compounds was possible through the development of a new enantioselective intramolecular 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition employing a AgOAc/(*S*)-DMBiphep catalyst to produce twenty-nine pyrrolo[3,2-c]quinolines **7** with excellent yields (up to 98%) and

enantioselectivities (up to 99% *ee*). It is worth noting that the site-specific introduction of a substituent in 4*H*quinoline has a pronounced effect on enantioselectivity; the substituent in the R³ position especially led to higher enantioselectivity. Biological evaluation of the collection revealed a novel smoothened antagonist that potently inhibits the Hedgehog (Hh)-signalling pathway. Interestingly, the inhibition of Hh signalling is significantly influenced by the absolute configuration of the most potent compound, highlighting the importance of utilizing enantioselective catalysis for the synthesis of PNP collections.



Figure 5. Asymmetric synthesis of pyrrolo[3,2-c]quinolines via intramolecular 1,3-dipolar cycloadditions.

3.4. Macroline- and sarpagine-inspired PNPs

The indolo[3.3.1]homotropane fragment is present in a number of compounds with diverse bioactivities, and is a core scaffold for some NPs such as macrolines and sarpagines. Inspired by these NPs, Aoyama et al. designed a collective synthesis of macroline- and sarpagine-inspired compounds by using both biology-oriented synthesis and PNP-design principles (Figure 6a). ²³ Phosphine-catalyzed [4+2] cycloadditions employing ketimine derivatives 8, and allenoates 9, were used to afford 4H-pyridines 10 as single diastereomers. Additionally, the reaction could be carried out enantioselectively by employing a chiral phosphine catalyst. Compounds 10 were used as divergent intermediates. When subjected to TFA, **10** underwent intramolecular Friedel-Crafts-type Cacylations to construct the indolo[3.3.1]homotropane scaffold and could be functionalized to afford a small collection of BIOS (biology oriented synthetic) compounds 11. Indolo[3.3.1]homotropanes 11 could be fused with a hydantoin fragment upon liberation of a free amine, reaction with an isocyanate, and amide-bond formation with the nearby methyl ester to afford PNPs 13. From divergent intermediate 10, a novel Sn-mediated intramolecular indole-N-cyclization was developed and employed to effectively fuse the [3.3.1]homotropane fragment to the indole with a different orientation to yield PNPs 12. Interestingly, this reaction did not occur in the absence of Me₄Sn or in the absence of both Pd(dppf)Cl₂ and Cul. Additionally, the liberation of an amine from 12 and reaction with isocyanate derivatives led to the incorporation of a hydantoin fragment and the construction of PNPs 14. A cheminformatic analysis of this PNP collection indicated that the synthesized compounds have similarities to both NPs and drugs. Morphological profiling via the CPA and subsequent validation assays led to the identification of one representative of **13** as a novel chemotype for microtubule modulation.



Figure 6. Design and synthesis of a biology-oriented synthesis- and PNP-inspired compound collection.

3.5. Sesquiterpenoid alkaloid PNPs via complexity to diversity strategy

Sesquiterpene lactones, many of which are fragment sized, are a class of bioactivity-rich NPs,²⁴⁻²⁶ and, using them as an example, Liu et al. combined the PNP design principle with the complexity-to-diversity strategy. ¹² Various sesquiterpene NPs were subjected to ring-distortion reactions to provide structurally diverse sesquiterpene-like fragments as building blocks. Biosynthetically-unrelated pyrrolidine moieties were subsequently fused to these fragments via 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition reactions to afford a collection of pseudo-sesquiterpenoid alkaloids (Figure 7a). A stereo-complementary synthetic approach was developed by employing different chiral ligands and conditions for cycloaddition reactions, ultimately resulting in a range of

stereochemically-diverse pyrrolidine moieties (Figure 7b). When the ferrocene-derived ligand L3 was employed, the resulting dipolar cycloaddition yielded compound 16 with excellent *endo-Si* selectivity. Opposite configuration of the pyrrolidine moiety could be achieved by employing *ent*-L3 under the same conditions to afford 17. Furthermore, using (*R*)-DTBM Segphos L4 as a ligand in 1,2-dichloroethane generated compound 18 with almost quantitative *exo-Si* selectivity. More interestingly, the choice of solvent was shown to be crucial for controlling selectivity. In THF, the *endo-Re* attack was favored; however, the selectivity switched to *exo-Si* when chloroform was employed as the solvent (see compound 19). Biological evaluation of this stereochemically- and structurally-diverse compound collection showed diverse biological performance. Furthermore, a novel inhibitor of Hh-dependent osteoblast differentiation was identified in this compound collection.



Figure 7. Combination of PNP design and complexity-to-diversity principles to afford diverse pseudo-sesquiterpenoid alkaloids.

3.6. Camptothecin-like PNPs

Camptothecin (CPT) is an alkaloid NP that exhibits anticancer properties via inhibition of topoisomerase I. Srikanth et al. used the PNP strategy in combination with the complexity-to-diversity strategy to design a new class of CPT-like compounds through the combination of the alkaloid fragment 4*H*-pyrroloquinolinone and the sugar moiety, furanose (Figure 8a). ²⁷ To access this PNP collection, tryptamine derivatives and a furanose system **20** were employed as starting materials in Pictet–Spengler reactions in the presence of a TFA catalyst in

dichloromethane at -78 °C to provide β -carboline intermediates **21** in good yields and with excellent diastereoselectivities (Figure 8b). Compounds **21** were treated with 4-dimethylaminopyridine (DMAP) in MeOH at 45 °C to induce the formation of intramolecular aza-Michael addition products **22**. The aza-Michael addition showed good compatibility with electron-donating or withdrawing substituents on the aromatic ring and afforded the desired products in moderate diastereoselectivities (7:3 dr) with *trans* isomers as the major products. To access the 4*H*-pyrroloquinolinone fragment, a ring-distortion strategy was developed to promote indole oxidative ring enlargement and subsequent ring formation. Thus, compounds **22** were treated with NalO₄ in a solvent mixture of MeOH/THF/H₂O to generate the medium-sized-ring ketolactam intermediate **23**. Subsequently, intermediates **23** underwent transannular aldol condensations in the presence of Cs₂CO₃ in two steps to afford the final CPT-like PNPs **24** in moderate yields. The focus of this work was on the synthesis of the PNPs, and biological evaluation of the compounds was not reported.



Figure 8. Diastereoselective synthesis of camptothecin PNPs.

3.7. Rutaecarpine-like PNPs

Rutaecarpine is a bioactive alkaloid that is isolated from the medicinal herb *Evodia rutaecarpa*, and has an abundance of bioactivities including vasodilatory, anti-platelet activation, anti-inflammatory, anti-oxidant, anti-fibrosis, and lipid-lowering activities (Figure 9a).²⁸⁻³³ In order to more broadly explore the chemical and biological space of the rutaecarpine system, Qin et al. developed a synthetic route to access a novel rutaecarpine-derived PNP collection with *C*-seco skeletons (Figure 9b). ³⁴ Aldehyde **25** reacted with *o*-phenylenediamine or *o*-aminobenzenethiol derivatives in the presence of DDQ (2,3-dichloro-5,6-dicyano-1,4-benzoquinone) to afford benzimidazoles **26** and benzothiazoles **27**, respectively. Additionally, **25** was reacted with o-aminobenzamides

in the presence of tetrabutylammonium hydrogen sulfate (TBAST) to yield quinazolinones **28**. Esters **26-28** could be functionalized by amidation reactions to afford the pseudo-rutaecarpine collection (**29-31**). It is worth noting that, in some cases, the amidation of compound **27** required conditions developed by the Szostak group³⁵ to afford the desired products. Interestingly, this class of PNPs retains the anti-inflammatory activity of the guiding NP, and inhibits the activation of MAPK/NF-κB pathways with a good hepatoprotective effect.



Figure 9. Design and synthesis of pseudo-rutaecarpines.

3.8. Indole-[3.3.1]homotropane PNPs

The azabicyclo[3.3.1]nonane fragment is found in several biologically-active alkaloid NPs, and can be difficult to construct due to its high strain energies. In 2022, Tan et al. developed a novel asymmetric cascade to construct *N*-bridged [3.3.1]-containing scaffolds that include indole fragments in orientations that are known to be produced in nature (Figure 10). ³⁶ In this synthetic methodology, indole-based α , β -unsaturated ketones and cyclic azomethine ylides were employed as substrates with chiral phosphonium/thiourea catalyst (**32**) to induce asymmetric 1,3-dipolar cyclizations and afford intermediates **33** after 36 h. The ketone of these intermediates was subsequently activated with direct addition of BF₃•Et₂O to induce ring opening followed by an intramolecular Friedel–Crafts-type reaction between the indole and iminium moieties **34** to afford the desired azabicyclo[3.3.1]nonane compounds **35**. Several different substrates bearing various functional groups and substitution patterns were compatible with the developed procedure, resulting in the formation of the desired products in good yields, high enantioselectivities, and excellent diastereoselectivities. The diversity of the collection was expanded by functionalizing the ketone and ester moieties by reduction to result in a total collection of sixty-three (63) PNPs. Finally, preliminary bioactivity studies showed that these *N*-bridged [3.3.1] compounds may have anticancer potential.



Figure 10. Asymmetric synthesis of *N*-bridged [3.3.1] ring systems by phosphonium salt/Lewis acid relay catalysis.

Conclusions

PNPs are the combination of NP fragments in arrangements not accessible in nature through known biosynthetic pathways. PNP design circumvents the evolutionary constraints placed on NPs, thereby, facilitating the exploration of biologically-relevant NP-like chemical space. The examples discussed above, and several other previously reported examples, showcase the PNP concept as a validated design principle for accessing novel biologically-active compound collections.

The design of novel PNP collections through the combination of different NP fragments in various arrangements and connectivities gives rise to a plethora of possible PNP scaffolds. Combining the logic of other molecular-design principles, such as biology-oriented synthesis,²³ and/or complexity-to-diversity,¹² with the PNP concept provides new opportunities to expand the chemical space occupied by a compound collection while retaining biological relevance. However, access to these structures may be synthetically challenging as the designed PNPs will likely retain the high complexity of NPs.¹⁹ Therefore, the strategic implementation of existing synthetic methodologies, and the development of novel complexity-generating alternatives, will be crucial in facilitating the rapid construction of new PNP-compound classes with multi-bond-forming reactions that increase the fraction of sp³-carbons, and overall stereogenic content in a stereoselective fashion that are

particularly desirable. Linking the new PNP scaffolds to bioactivities will require the further development of broad and unbiased screening technologies and techniques to rapidly identify molecular targets.

The PNP concept may serve as a useful blueprint for the daunting task of exploring biologically relevant chemical space. Nevertheless, the importance of multidisciplinary collaboration required for the design, synthesis, and biological characterization of PNP collections should not be understated in the quest to discover new bioactive compounds that may be developed into chemical probes and/or therapeutics.

Acknowledgements

We are thankful to the Max-Planck-Gesellschaft for making this work possible through institutional financial support.

References

- 1. Newman, D. J.; Cragg, G. M. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2020**, *83*, 770. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jnatprod.9b01285
- Pye, C. R.; Bertin, M. J.; Lokey, R. S.; Gerwick, W. H.; Linington, R. G. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 2017, 114, 5601.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1614680114

- 3. Grigalunas, M.; Burhop, A.; Christoforow, A.; Waldmann, H. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* **2020**, *56*, 111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2019.10.005</u>
- 4. Karageorgis, G.; Foley, D. J.; Laraia, L.; Waldmann, H. *Nat. Chem.* **2020**, *12*, 227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41557-019-0411-x</u>
- 5. Over, B.; Wetzel, S.; Grütter, C.; Nakai, Y.; Renner, S.; Rauh, D.; Waldmann, H. *Nat. Chem.* **2013**, *5*, 21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nchem.1506</u>
- 6. Karageorgis, G.; Foley, D. J.; Laraia, L.; Brakmann, S.; Waldmann, H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2021**, 60, 15705. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202016575
- 7. Grigalunas, M.; Brakmann, S.; Waldmann, H. *J. Am. Chem.Soc.* **2022**, *144*, 3314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.1c11270</u>
- 8. Liu, J.; Grigalunas, M.; Waldmann, H. In *Annual Reports in Medicinal Chemistry*, Academic Press, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.armc.2023.10.001
- 9. Gally, J. M.; Pahl, A.; Czodrowski, P.; Waldmann, H. *J. Chem. Inf. Model.* **2021**, *61*, 5458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jcim.1c01084</u>
- Grigalunas, M.; Burhop, A.; Zinken, S.; Pahl, A.; Gally, J. M.; Wild, N.; Mantel, Y.; Sievers, S.; Foley, D. J.; Scheel, R.; Strohmann, C.; Antonchick, A. P.; Waldmann, H. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 1883. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22174-4</u>
- 11. Liu, J.; Cremosnik, G. S.; Otte, F.; Pahl, A.; Sievers, S.; Strohmann, C.; Waldmann, H. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 4648.

https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202013731

12. Liu, J.; Flegel, J.; Otte, F.; Pahl, A.; Sievers, S.; Strohmann, C.; Waldmann, H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2021**, 60, 21384.

https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202106654

- Bray, M. A.; Singh, S.; Han, H.; Davis, C. T.; Borgeson, B.; Hartland, C.; Kost-Alimova, M.; Gustafsdottir, S. M.; Gibson, C. C.; Carpenter, A. E. *Nat. Protoc.* **2016**, *11*, 1757. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2016.105</u>
- 14. Ziegler, S.; Sievers, S.; Waldmann, H. *Cell Chem. Biol.* **2021**, *28*, 300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2021.02.012</u>
- Mohammed, A. E.; Abdul-Hameed, Z. H.; Alotaibi, M. O.; Bawakid, N. O.; Sobahi, T. R.; Abdel-Lateff, A.; Alarif, W. M. *Molecules* 2021, 26, 488. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26020488</u>
- 16. Pan, Q. F.; Mustafa, N. R.; Tang, K. X.; Choi, Y. H.; Verpoorte, R. *Phytochem. Rev.* **2016**, *15*, 221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-015-9406-4</u>
- 17. O'Connor, S. E.; Maresh, J. J. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2006**, *23*, 532. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/b512615k</u>
- Xie, J. N.; Pahl, A.; Krzyzanowski, A.; Krupp, A.; Liu, J.; Koska, S.; Schölermann, B.; Zhang, R. R.; Bonowski, J.; Sievers, S.; Strohmann, C.; Ziegler, S.; Grigalunas, M.; Waldmann, H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2023, 62, e202310222.

https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202310222

- 19. Krzyzanowski, A.; Pahl, A.; Grigalunas, M.; Waldmann, H. *J. Med. Chem.* **2023**, *66*, 12739. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.3c00689</u>
- 20. Zinken, S.; Pahl, A.; Grigalunas, M.; Waldmann, H. *Tetrahedron* **2023**, *143*, 133553. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tet.2023.133553</u>
- Perzyna, A.; Marty, C.; Facompré, M.; Goossens, J. F.; Pommery, N.; Colson, P.; Houssier, C.; Houssin, R.; Hénichart, J. P.; Bailly, C. J. Med. Chem. 2002, 45, 5809. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jm020235g</u>
- 22. Liu, J.; Zhang, R. R.; Mallick, S.; Patil, S.; Wientjens, C.; Flegel, J.; Krupp, A.; Strohmann, C.; Grassin, C.; Merten, C.; Pahl, A.; Grigalunas, M.; Waldmann, H. *Chem. Sci.* 2023, *14*, 7936. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/d3sc01240a</u>
- Aoyama, H.; Davies, C.; Liu, J.; Pahl, A.; Kirchhoff, J.-L.; Scheel, R.; Sievers, S.; Strohmann, C.; Grigalunas, M.; Waldmann, H. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2023**, e202303027. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.202303027</u>
- 24. Moujir, L.; Callies, O.; Sousa, P. M. C.; Sharopov, F.; Seca, A. M. L. *Appl. Sci.* **2020**, *10*, 3001. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/app10093001</u>
- 25. Jhoti, H.; Williams, G.; Rees, D. C.; Murray, C. W. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* **2013**, *12*, 644. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3926-c1</u>
- 26. Congreve, M.; Carr, R.; Murray, C.; Jhoti, H. *Drug Discov. Today* **2003**, *8*, 876. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-6446(03)02831-9</u>
- 27. Srikanth, G.; Ravi, A.; Sebastian, A.; Joseph, J.; Khanfar, M. A.; El-Gamal, M. I.; Al-Qawasmeh, R. A.; Shehadi,
 I. A.; Sieburth, S. M.; Abu-Yousef, I. A.; Majdalawieh, A. F.; Al-Tel, T. H. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2023, 26, e202300080.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.202300080

- 28. Hu, C. P.; Xiao, L. A.; Deng, H. W.; Li, Y. J. *Planta Med.* **2003**, *69*, 125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2003-37703</u>
- 29. Li, D.; Peng, J.; Xin, H. Y.; Luo, D.; Zhang, Y. S.; Zhou, Z.; Jiang, D. J.; Deng, H. W.; Li, Y. J. *Peptides* **2008**, *29*, 1781.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2008.06.010

- 30. Heo, S. K.; Yun, H. J.; Yi, H. S.; Noh, E. K.; Park, S. D. J. Cell. Biochem. **2009**, 107, 123. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.22109
- 31. Dai, Z.; Xiao, J.; Liu, S. Y.; Cui, L.; Hu, G. Y.; Jiang, D. J. *Neuropharmacology* **2008**, *55*, 1307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.08.030</u>
- 32. Jiang, X. H.; Wu, Q. Q.; Xiao, Y.; Yuan, Y.; Yang, Z.; Bian, Z. Y.; Chang, W.; Tang, Q. Z. *Planta Med.* **2017**, *83*, 761.

https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0042-124044

- 33. Nie, X. Q.; Chen, H. H.; Zhang, J. Y.; Zhang, Y. J.; Yang, J. W.; Pan, H. J.; Song, W. X.; Murad, F.; He, Y. Q.; Bian, K. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 2016, 37, 483. https://doi.org/10.1038/aps.2015.167
- 34. Qin, L. Q.; Sun, J. Y.; Chen, N. Y.; Li, X. W.; Gao, D. F.; Wang, W.; Mo, D. L.; Su, J. C.; Su, G. F.; Pan, C. X. *Bioorg. Chem.* 2023, *138*, 106611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioorg.2023.106611
- 35. Li, G. C.; Szostak, M. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 4165. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-06623-1
- 36. Tan, J. P.; Li, K. H.; Shen, B. M.; Zhuang, C.; Liu, Z. J.; Xiao, K.; Yu, P. Y.; Yi, B.; Ren, X. Y.; Wang, T. L. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13*, 357.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-28001-8

Authors' Biographies



Xiufen Cheng obtained her PhD degree under the supervision of Prof. Xisheng Wang at University of Science and Technology of China, where she worked on developing enantioselective C–H activations for synthesis of chiral heterocycles. From 2017, she joined Shandong Normal University as an assistant professor, during this time, she focused on quantitative chemoproteomic profiling of targets of small molecules. In 2021, she moved to the Max Planck Institute of Molecular Physiology in Germany as a postdoctoral fellow in the group of Prof. Waldmann where her current research focuses on rational chemical design of pseudo-natural products for the discovery of IDO1 protein chemotypes.

Michael Grigalunas completed his PhD studies in organic chemistry at the University of Notre Dame, USA under the guidance of Paul Helquist and Olaf Wiest focusing on the development of transition-metal catalyzed methodologies. After graduating in 2017, he moved to the Max Planck Institute of Molecular Physiology in Germany as an Alexander von Humboldt postdoctoral fellow in the group of Herbert Waldmann. In 2021,

Michael became project group leader in the same group where his research has focused on the design, synthesis, and biological characterization of pseudo-natural products.



Herbert Waldmann obtained his PhD in organic chemistry in 1985 under the supervision of Horst Kunz. After a postdoctoral period with George Whitesides at Harvard University, he returned to the University of Mainz and completed his habilitation in 1991. He was appointed as Director at MPI Dortmund and professor of Biochemistry at TU Dortmund University in 1999. His research focuses on new principles for the design and syntheses of natural-product-inspired compound classes and their biological evaluation.

This paper is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>)